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HULL, Circuit Judge

After a jury trial, Matthew Andrew Carter, also known as William Charles
Harcourt or Bill Carter, appeals his convictions for one count of travel in foreign
commerce for theurpose of engaging in“aexual act with a minor, in violation
of §2423(b); four counts of travel in foreign commerce for the purpose of
engaging iffillicit sexual conduct with a minor, in violation of 18 U.S.C.

8 2423(b)and (f);and one count of attempting to travel in foreign commerce for
thesameaterpurpose, in violation of 18 U.S.C.28123(e)" After review of the
record and the briefs, and with the benefit of oral argument, we affirm.

|. BACKGROUND
A.  The Six-Count Indictment

On January 12, 2012, a federal grand jury returngg-eount,second
superseding indictmegainstDefendant CarterWhile Counts One through Five
each charged violations of 18 U.S.@2423(b), Count One described separately
because thlanguage of § 2423(b) was amended before the date of the conduct

alleged in Counts Two through Fi¢eFurthermoreas recounted lateGartets

Section 2423(b) criminalizes travel in foreign commerce for the purpose of eggagin
illicit sexual conduct with a minor, while § 2423(e) makes attempt to violate § 2423(b)
punishable in the same manner as a completed violation.

’SeeProsecutorial Remedies and Tools against the Exploitation of Children Totlaf/ Ac
2003, Pub. L. No. 108-21, § 105, 117 Stat 650, 654.
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defense counsel made arguments regarding Count One that he did not make
regarding Counts Two through Fiv8eeinfra, Part |.E.
Count One alleged that Carter violated 18 U.S.242&3(b) by traveling to

Haiti on or about October 2, 20049r the purpose of engaging in any sexua) act
asdefined in [18 U.S.C. 8246]with a person under 18 years of age thatld be
in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Chapter 109A, if the sexual act
occurred inthe spea@l maritime and territorigurisdiction of the United Staté's
CountOne tracked the language of the423(b) statute in effect in 2001, which
provided:

A . . . United States citizen . . . who travels in foreign

commerce . . for the purpose of engaging in any sexual

act @sdefinedin section2246 with a person under 18

years of agéhat would be in violation of chapter 109A if

the sexual act occurred in the special maritime and

territorial jurisdiction of the United Stateshall be fined

under this title, imprisoned not more than 15 years, or

both.
18 U.S.C. 423(b) (2000).

In Counts Two through Fivehe indictment alleged that Cartaplated 18

U.S.C. §2423(b) on occasions in 2003, 2004, 2006, and 2009 by trawedimg
the United States to Haiti for the purpose of engagirigliait sexual conduct as

defined in 82423(f), witha minor At the time of the conduct in Counts Two

through Five, & 2423(b) and (f) provided:



Case: 13-13518 Date Filed: 01/27/2015 Page: 4 of 39

(b) Travel with intent to engage in illicit sexual
conduct--A person who travels in interstate commerce
or travels into theUnited States, or a United States
citizen or an alien admitted for permanent residence in
the United States who travels fioreign commerce, for
the purpose of engaging in any illicit sexual conduct with
another person shall be fined under this tite
imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

(f) Definition.--As used in this section, the term “illicit

sexual conduct” means (1) a sexual act (as defined in

section 2246)with a person under 18 years of age that

would be in violation of chapter 109A if the sexual act

occurred in the special maritimeand territorial

jurisdiction of the United States; or (2) any commercial

sex act (as defined in section 1591) with a person under

18 years of age.
18 U.S.C. § 2423Thus, while ‘any sexual act . . . with a person under 18 years of
age was changed to “illicit sexual conduct” in2823(b),the definition of “illicit
sexual conduct” in 8423(f) still included'sexual act[s] . . . with a person under
18 years of agdgas defined irsection2246.

Count Sixcharged a attempt offense, specificallizat Cartewviolated 18
U.S.C. 82423(e)in 2011 by attemptingo travel from the United States to Haiti for
the purpose of engaging in illicit sexual conduct with a minor
B. The Evidence at Trial

The case proceeded to trial, which lasted for more than three weeks. The

government introduced evidence that Carter, an American citizen, ran the Morning

Star Center (théCentet'), a residential facility in Haiti that provided shelter, food,
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schooling, and amenities to local youths whose families could not afford to care for
them. From 1995 until 2011Carter operated the Center at various locat near
Portau-Prince, Haiti. The Center included a health clinic for the people living in
the surrounding neighborhood, which provided free services to local residents
following the January 2010 earthquakeHaiti. Carter regularly traveled to the

United States to raise charitable funds from churches and other donors to finance
the Centérs continued operation.

The Center and its clinic, however, were the facade Carter used to shield his
abuse of young boya Haiti for more than a decade and a half. Sixteen witnesses
testified that Carter sexually abused them when they livent &equentegdthe
Center between 1995 and 2011. The abuse included Carter performing oral sex on
children, requiring childrerotperform oral sex on him, touching the genitals of
children, attempting to engage in anal sex with children, and requiring children to
masturbate himAll of Carter's victims were male childrerif the children
complied with his sexual demands, Carter would provide them with gifts and treat
them better than he would other children at the Center. But if a child refused to
comply with his sexual demands, Carter would hit the male child with cleged f
spank him with sticks, and give hifthe worst kind of chores. The victims did

not report the abuse to others or leave the facility bedhey were ashamen
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afraid of Carter. The abuse ended when Carter was arrested at Miami International
Airport on May 8, 2011.
C. The Testimony ofWitnessG.S.

Among the witnesses to testify during the governfsecdse in chief was
G.S.,who testified that he lived as a child at the Center in Haiti and that Carter
repeatedly forced him to masturbate Catt&@arter also requested oral sex from
G.S. and, on at least one occasion, made G.S. and other boys strip naked and touch
their own genitals, ostensibly in an effort to locate five dollars that megng
G.S. also testified that Carter sexually abustber boys and would beat or
otherwise punish them if they refused to comply with Cateexual demands.
On direct examination, G.S. admitted that he had not disclosed that Carter had
forced him to masturbate Carter until two days before his testin@rfy. testified
that he had not previously disclosed that ali{isiecause these are ugly things.
For them to come out of me, they are very ugly things. And I have to tell the truth.
| wanted to come and tell it to him in his fadavas waitingto sedf | would be
part of the trial so | could tell it tim in his facé€.

On crossexaminationCarter’sdefense counsel began to question G.S.

about the contents of his initial interview with law enforcement, which occarred

3Although he was an adult at the time of the trial, G.S.’s full name is not included in the
trial transcript because he was a minor when he alleges that Carter abusedehirse tis
convention throughout the remainder of this opinion when discussing witnesses who alleged that
they were abused as children.

6
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May 22, 2011, only two wds after Cartelrs arrest irconnection with this case

During this line of questioning, defense counsel eventually asked G.S. whether he
hadtold government agentshat not only diche not touch you sexuallyut also

“that you saw nothing improper going atthe prograni.

The government objected on hearsay groundsChtrteis defense counsel
argued that the question was permissible impeachment based on prior inconsistent
statements. Defense counsel referred to notes prepared by law enforcement from
theMay 22, 2011 interview with G.S., whichdicatethat G.S. told the interviewer
that“[t]his guy never did anything to me because he never did anything’to me.
Defense counsel also proffered that G.S. told law enforcement on November 30,
2011, that b never saw Carter do anything to any children, alth@@hknew
that Carter didbad things to some of the boys at nighthe government noted
that those statements attributed to G.S. Whased on lavenforcement [notes]. .
and notfrom any sworrstatements taken under oath or any recostisgments.

The government then summarized its objectiona®bjectingto this line of
inquiry, but only to the form of the question as hearsay, stating
The Government doednobject to the line of inquiry
that defense counsel seeks to make. The Government
would only object to the form of the question as
characterizing it ashearay: On suckandsuch date,

didn't you tell lawenforcement X, Y or Z?

The Government would also object to the theatrical
useof the law enforcement reports, as [defense counsel]

7
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reads fronthem and waves them around to the juwye
think thats inappropriate.

It gives the impression that lsereading from some
sort of official document. It gives the impression to the
jury that the defense counsel is actually reading the
witnesss actual statements when that is not, in fact, the
case.
The district court ruled th&arter'sdefense counsel could question G.S.
about those subject matters but not in the type of question forig besal

Defense counsel then continued his crssmination of G.SG.S.

admitted that, at his first meeting with law enforcement, G.S. denied being

involved in any sexual activity with Cartetrhe district court then sustained the

governmerits objecion to other questions about this meeting, directing the defense

counsel to rephrase his questions: something that counsel never successfully did.
Defense couns¢hen began askinguestios of G.S. about a later meeting

with law enforcement, held on Nember 30, 2011Defense counsel asked G.S.,

“You, in fact, denied again participating in any sexagivity with [Carter].

Correct?” The government objected, but the district court overruled the objection.

G.S. then testified that he had, in fact, métht denial.Defense counsel

continued asking G.S. about his statements to law enforcement.
During this line of questioninghé district courtepeatedly overruled

government objections on hearsay grounésally, given the numerous
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objections by the government as to courssgbod faith basis for asking particular
guestions, the district court ruled:

What | will allow you to doJdefense counsgljs detail

with him how many meetings he hathce he arrived in

the country—how many meetings he hadith the

Government since he arrived in the country andinid

two days ago he didtreveal anything
After this ruling, defense counsel elicited from the witnesstheatwitnessad
first told agents about his sexual abuse only two days before trial and had not told
agents before because he was embarrassed.
D. Mid-Trial Motions for Foreign Witness Depositions

On February 12, 2013,veeekafter the evidentiary portion of the trial began

and during the governméatcasen chief, Carter moved to take four witness
depositions in Haitipursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 15. Carter
motion stated that his lawyers, who traveled to Haiti after theyasselected but
before the jury was impaneled, had found tleeulpatory withessésdiving near
the Center in Haiti who did not have passports or \asasould notafford to
securghose document® travel to the United States to testifg@arters counsel
profferedthat the witnesses woutdstify that Carter helped the residents who
lived near the Center arldatthey saw no signs of sexual abuse. Specifically, the

withesses would

testify how the defendant was an asset to the
neighborhood and hojCarter]and the other residents of

9
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the Morning Star Center helpgdde neighborhood both
before and after the earthquake with donations of food,
clothing and medical suppliesin addition, they will
testify that due to the actions bfr. Carter, many lives
were sved both in the neighborhood and the nearby tent
city after the earthquake.

They will also testify that during their time in the
neighborhood they interactegith both Mr. Carter and
the residents of the Morning Star Centelthey will
testify that the esidents were well treated by the
defendant and they saw absolutely no siginthe sexual
abuse that has been alleged.

They will also testify how the residents interacted
with those in theneighborhood and there were no signs
of sexual abuse that suppdine allegationsagainst the
defendant.

Additionally, Carters counsesought to take a deposition of Pastor Alan
Randall, a witness in Haiti who wagnable to travel to the United States because
his wife recently suffered a massive heart attack ancain@ot leave her for an
extended periodf time.” Carters counseproffered thaPastor Randall would
testify he visited the Center and saw no sign of sexual abuse:

Randall will testify that he has been to the Morning Star
Center on mangccasions.He had been invited to dinner
many times. In addition, he visited thiMorning Star
Center with personnel from the United Natiortde will

further stataunder oath that he saw absolutely no sign of
any sexual contact or abuse from tledendant.

10



Case: 13-13518 Date Filed: 01/27/2015 Page: 11 of 39

On Februay 19, 2013 Carters counsefiled a supplement to his motion to
depose the three witnesses who lived in the neighborhood around the“Center.
Carter again contended that the three witnesses would testifipe¢hatvere no
signs of sexual abuse thatpport the allegatioregainst the defendant. However,
Carter’s supplement to the motion to depose focused on the fact that the
government had introduced evidence of Castarteractions at the Center with
children in the neighborhood. In light of the testimony elicited by the government,
Carter arguedhe depositions weramore crucial nowand the motion should be
granted.

A day later, on February 20, 2013, Cadearounsefiled another, separate
motion to depose a foreign witness pursuant to Rbileln that motion, Carter
requested permission to depose Kate Jensen, who lived in Copenhagen, Denmark.
Carter stated that Jenseasscheduled to travel to the United States on February
27, 2013, but that she suffered a setback in her recovery fooakan left
shoulder and was no longaioleto appear in person. Carteicounseproffered
that Jensen wouldlsotestify that she visited the Center and never suspected any
sexual abuse was occurring:

Ms. Kate Jensen, if permitted to testifywould statehat
she is a criminalinvestigator/police officer with the

Copenhagen Police Department who was deaae of
absence and assigned to the United Nations in Haiti from

*This motion did not mention the fourth witness in Haiti, PaR@mdall.
11
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approximately 20060 2011. She met the defendant in
early 2009 at a BBQwith about 15 residents of the
Morning Star CenterShe would testify that the children
were very well behaved anekry respectful to all of the
guests. Off[icer] Jensen was so impressed with the
childreris behavior that she visited the Morning Star
Center on numerous occasionfuring those visits she
would stay for dinner but not spend the nigidthen she
heard thaBill Carter (a male) was operating a children
home with only boys, her criminainvestigators
background kicked in and she wanted to make sure
nothing illegal wagoing on. Ms. Jensen will testify that

at no time did she ever suspect that any typseatial
abuse was going on at the orphanage. It appeared to her
that all of the childrettoved beng there.

Carters defense counsel informed the district court that Jetisemot an expert
but is a fact witness.

Before the defense presented its case in chief, the district court orally denied
both motiondo depose witnessed he government adfed to stipulate certain
facts to which the foreign witnesses would allegedly testify, including that none of
the witnesses personally observed Carter engaging in illicit sexual conduct with the
Centets residents, but defense counsel rejected the digrulatating that
“nothing could take the place of the RuledEpositions' Cartets counsel then
made a renewed, oral motion to take the five foreign witness depositions. The
district court denied the renewed motion, saying that the testimony Gautgrts

was immaterial to the case and cumulative of other evidencediSthet court

12
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supplemented its oral order with a written order that explained its reasons for
denying the motions to depose foreign witnesses.
E.  Motion for Judgment of Acquittal

At the conclusion of the governméntase in chiefCartets defense
counsel moved for judgment of acquittal all countspursuant to Federal Rule of
Criminal Procedure 29(a)As to all counts, Carter arguadter alia, that the
government failed to introduce evidence sufficient to sustain a conviction.

With regard tadCount Oneonly, Carters defense counsalsoargued thathe
§ 2423(b) statutapplicable to that coumequired the government to prove that the
defendant engaged in a sexual act withiaor and that the act was performed
within the special maritime and territorjarisdiction of the United State#\s to
Count Oneartets defense counsel contended that there wédswidence to
show that anyf the purported sexual acts that occdfieround]October, 2001,
ever occurred within the special maritime and territguasdiction of the United
States’ and thatCarter waghereforeentitled toa judgment ofcquittalas to

Count One’

®Cartets defense counsel did not make this argument as to Counts Two through Five
because those counts alleged violations that occurred after the 2003 amendment to § 2423(b),
which heapparentlyinterpreted as removing the requirement that theegnment prove a sexual
act occurred within the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the UniteesStauring
trial, defense counsel stated:

Count 1 chargethat, on or about October 2nd, 2001, the
Defendant, a United States citizell travel in foreigncommerce

13
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After hearing arguments, the district court der@zdtets motion for
judgment of acquittads toall counts
F.  The Introduction of Government Exhibit 105
Carters counsethen put orCartets defense, which included only one
witness: Carter.
Carter denied every allegation of sexual abuSarteradmitted that he
traveled from the United States to Haiti on each of the dates alleged by Counts One

through Five. But he testifigtiathis purpose in traveling to Haiti was to support

from the United States. . to Haiti for purposes @ngagingn any
sexual act, as defined [&8 U.S.C. 82246] with a person under
18 years of age that would beviolation of Title 18United States
Code, Chapter 1689ard this is the language | want the Court to
focus or—if the sexual act occurred in the special maritime and
territorial jurisdiction of the United States . .

While the evidence that Mr. Carter may or may not have
committed sexual acts with persons under 18 years of age during
this time period is a jury question, the issue as to whéltieeacts
occurred within the special maritime and territojuaisdiction of
the United States is also a question of law.. However, the
evidence that came in throbgthis—through the Governmeist
case in chief failed to show that thets occurred in the special
maritime and territorigjurisdiction.

If the Court notes|,] the remaining counts, 2 througddnot
have that requirementOnly Count 1[includes the loation as an
element] based on the agef that count. And, therefore, a
judgment of acquittal, at a minimurshould be entered as to that
count.

We note, however, that the languagié the sexual act occurred in the special maritime
and territorial jurisdiction of the United Statewas removed from § 2423(b) baas still
included in the definition of “illicit sexual conduct” in § 2423(f).

14
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and further the work of the Cent@nd to bring back donations angpplies
collected in the United States to the Center. Carter denied traveling to Haiti for the
purpose of engaging in sexual acts with minors.

During direct examinatiorCartertestified that hdived in Egypt for several
years beginning in 198an Egypt, Carter lived in a house with a young boy,
whose mother Carter paid so that the boy would live with him and perform certain
tasks. Cartefurthertestified that he was arrested by Egyptian law enforcement,
who falsely accused him of being a spy. Defense counsel asked witledner
any allegations of sexual impropriety maginst Carter. Carter repliedNot
that | know of at the tim&. Nonethelessaccording to Cartegn investigation
commenced, and Carter was eventually deported from Egglstesnt back to the
United States. On crogxamination, Carter denied that he was arrested on child
molestation charges.

After the defense restedha government prepared to call a rebuttal witness
and sought to introduce evidertbat wouldimpeach Caer's testimony and prove
thatCarterknew that he had been arrested on suspicion of child molestation.
Specifically, he government sought to admit into evideBgaibit 105,a cable
sent between State Department employees in February 1990, which dtemimen
Carters arresin Egypt The cable contained two sections. The first section

resembled a form, with more than 20 lines of information, inclutiNegne’

15
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“Sex; “DPOB” (date and place of birth)Date and place of arrestArrest
condition; and“Charges. The second section included comments made by State
Department officials, including references to statements made by Carter and an
assessment of the State Departrigeimvestigation into his arrest.

The government contended that the State Reyent, including its Embassy
in Egypt, had a policy of making a record in this form of any arrest of an American
citizen in a foreign country. Accordingly, the government argued that the cable
wasadmissible as a business record, pursuant to FederabRiNedence 803(6),
and alternatively as a public record, pursuant to Rule 803(8).

Carter objected to the admissibility of the cable on hearsay and
Confrontation Clause ground€arterobjected both to the admissibility of the
cable itself, and more specifically to the admissibility thie law enforcement
activity of the Egyptian police and the Egyptian Governmdrdt was recorded on
the first section of cableCartercontended thétis arrest information should be
excluded because such a remantstitutedhearsay from an Egyptian official,
rather than information to which the State Department employee who filled out the
form hadpersonal knowledge.

After hearing arguments, the district court stated that it was impossible to
know whether the statements attributed to Carter in the comments séf¢hen

cablewere made by Carter to the Egyptian authorities, and that the State

16
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Department official who filled out the form might not have had direct knowledge
of the conversation. The government agreBEae district court then stated thdt
[the comment portiontame from the arrest forrits admissionjvould be a
violation of theconfrontationclause”

The district courfurtherstated thatthe pro forma portion of the form,
which is name, date of birth, arrest charge, date of amestical conditior-all of
that information is the informatiomade in the normal course of affairs to be
collected by botlthe[U.S.] Embassy, in this instance in Egypt, and to be
transmitted back to the DepartmentState in Washington, D@or the purpose of
protecting the interests of tlig.S.] citizenabroad’ Accordingly, the district
court admitted a redacted version of the cable, which included the arrest
information in the first section, but did not incluithe second (comments) section
with thereferences to Cartar statementS.

G. The Jury Instructions

The government submittgaoposed jury instructions, whigitovided, in

relevant partas to Count One
Count 1 charges the Defendant, a United States
citizen, with traveling inforeign commerce from the

United States to Haiti for the purpose of engagingnn
sexual act with a person under 18 years of age.

*Thedistrict courtalso concludedn the alternativethat the cable was admissible as a
public record, pursuant to Rule 803(8).

17
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The Defendant can be found guilty of Count 1 ahly
all the following factsare proved beyond a reasonable
doubt:

(1) the Defendant is a United States citizen;

(2) the Defendant traveled in foreign commerce;

and

(3) the Defendant traveled for the purpose of:
e engaging in a sexual act with a person who
is under 16 years of agend is at least four
years younger than the Defendant; or
e causing a person under 18 years of age to
engage in a sexual act byreatening or
placing that person in fear; or
e causing a person under 18 years of age to
engage in a sexualct byusing force against
that person. . .

The Government does not have to prove that the
Defendant actually engag@da sexual act with a person
under 18 years of age, but must prove that he traveled
with the intent to engage in such conduct.

Carters counsebbjected to the proposed instrucsas to Count Onen

two grounds. First, he requested that the pHri&sieat sexual act occurred in the

special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United Stabesaddedbothto

the introdwctory paragraph, aftéd8 years of agéand tothe elements of the

offense, as the fourth elemer@econdCarters counsetequested that the word

“knowingly’ be added before the wotttaveled in the elements of the crime.

The districtcourt overrled Cartels objections and charged the jury as to

Count One, in relevant part:

Count 1: Its a federal crime for a United States
citizen to knowingly travel in foreign commerce for the

18
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purpose of engaging in a sexual act with a person under
18 years of age.

The Defendant can be found guilty of Count 1 only if
all the following facts are proved beyond a reasonable
doubt:

1: The Defendant is a United States citizen;
2: The Defendant traveled in foreign commerce; and,

3: The Defendant traveled for the purpose of engaging
in a sexual act with a person who is under 16 years of age
andis at least four years younger than the Defendant, or
causing aperson under 18 years of age to engage in a
sexual act byhreatening or placing that persorfear, or
causing a persoander 18 years of age to engage in a
sexual act by using for@gainst that person.

The term Sexual act means contact between the
penisand the vulva or the penis and the anus involving
penetration, however slight; or contacbetween the
mouth and the penis, thmouth and the vulva, or the
mouth and the anus; or thenetration, however slight, of
another persds anal ogenital opening by a hand, finger
or any object with an intetid abuse, humiliate, harass or
degrade the person or arousegmtify the sexual desires
of the Defendant or any otheerson; or an intentional
touching, not through the clothingf the genitalia of a
person younger than 16 years old withititent to abuse,
humiliate, harass or degrade the personammuse or
gratify the sexual desire of the Defendant or atiyer
person. . .

The Government does not have to prove that the
Defendant actually engaged in a sexual act with a person
under 18 years of age, but must prove that he traveled
with the intent to engage in suadonduct. Proof of the
Defendans intent may be established by either direct or
circumstantiakvidence.

19
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The Government does not have to show that the
sexualact is illegal in the country to which the Defendant
traveled.

The dstrict court did not specify that the jury must find that the sexual act
whichwas the defendars purposgwould have been illegal if it occurred in the
special maritime or territorial jurisdiction of the United States. Rather, the district
court defired “sexual act” according to the meaning given to that term by 18
U.S.C. 82246. Carter did not object to thestrict courts definition of “sexual
act” in its jury instructions for Count One

As to the jury instructions for Counts Two through Five, Carter made only
one objectionwhich wasabout certain evidence and vastained
H.  Guilty Verdict and Sentencing

On February 28, 2013, the jury found Carter guilty on all coulster trial,
Carter filed aRule 29(c)motion for judgment ofcquittaland aRule 33motion for
a new trial. SeeFed. R. Crim. P. 2@nd33. The district court denied both

motions, and sentenced Carter to 1,980 mormmsrisonment

Carter timely appealed.

’Carter objected to a paragraph in the proposed jury instructions regardingetrendf
between direct and circumstantial evidence. That objection, which was suisiginet at issue
on appeal.

®The district court sentencetarter to six consecutive terms: 180 montimgrisonment
for Count One and 360 months’ imprisonment each for Counts Two through Six. On appeal,
Carter challenges only his convictions and does not raise any sentencing issues

20
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Il. DISCUSSION
A. Denial of Carter’s Rule 29Motionson Count One

On appealCartets first argument is that the district courtest in denying
his motiors forjudgment of acquittal on Count OReCarter contends that the
version of the 8423(b)statuteapplicable to Count One, as well as the language
used in Count Oneequiredthe government to prove that the sexualtsetf
occurred in the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States,
and the government did not prove this f&ct.

It is clear from a review of th& 2423(b) statute and the indictment that the
governmentvas not required to prove that the defendenttiallycommitted any
sexual act whatsoever, let alone prove that the defendant committed a sexual act in
the speciamaritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United Stat&eeUnited

States v. Bredimys352 F.3d 200, 210 (5th Cir. 2003)Ve find. . .that the

criminal act under § 2423(b) is foreign travel with criminal intent; and thus, the

offense is complete even if the illicit intent is never realizedee alsdJnited

States v. Vangl28 F.3d 1065, 1069 (7th Cir. 1997 1994, Congress created

®Carter does not appeal thistrict courts denial of his motion for judgment of acquittal
on any other count.

%e reviewde novoa district cours denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal on
sufficiency of the evidence grounds and look at the record in the light most faviordfbgury
verdict, drawing all reasonable inferences and credibility choices awvibs.f United States v.
Reeves742 F.3d 487, 497 (11th Cir. 2014). We also review de novo the districtscourt’
interpretation of a statute. United States v. Murrell, 368 F.3d 1283, 1285 (11th Cir. 2004).
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§ 2423(b) in a further attempt to expand the protection of miribng. newstatute
punishes merdravel in interstate commerce . ).

The phrase Carter highlights'if the sexual act occurred in the special
maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United Stdtesloes not limit the
territorial or jurisdictional reach of the statute. Rather, it defines what types of
sexual acta defendant must hawaveled forthe purpose ofommittingto be
guilty of thecrime thosesexualacts that would be unlawful if theyccurredn the
special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States

Catter's argument thaCount Oneshould have been dismissed becabse
government failed to produce evidence that he engaged in any sexualklagets in
special maritime or territoriglrisdictionof the United Statetherefore lacks
merit. That the defendant committed a sexuaireatparticular jurisdiction simply
Is not an element of a violation o2823(b). Accordingly, the district court
properly denied Cartes motiors for judgment of acquittads to Count One
B.  Overruling of Carter’s Objections tothe Jury Instructions

On appealCartets second argument is that the district court erretd jary

instructionsregarding the § 2423(b) offenses in Counts One through'Five

e reviewde novo the legal correctness of jury instructions. United States v. Gibson,
708 F.3d 1256, 1275 (11th Circert. denied571 U.S. _ , 134 S. Ct. 342 (2013). We defer to
the district court on questions of phrasing absent an abuse of discigt@ok 599 F.3d at
1236. The district court’s jury instructions are subject to harmless error reueited States v.
House, 684 F.3d 1173, 1196 (11th Cir. 20t2)t. denied568 U.S. |, 133 S. Ct. 1633 (2013).
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1. Count One: Location of the Sexual Acts

Carterfirst argues that the district court erred by failing to include in the
instruction for Count On&the element requiring the jury to find whethtre
sexual act occurred in the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United
States’ For the reasas explained in Palt. A, Carters argument lacks merit.
Neither the commission of the sexual act, nor its occurrence in a particular
jurisdiction, wasan element of thg 2423(b) offensén Count One™

2. CountsOnethrough FiveWhether‘Knowing Travelin Foreign
Commerce’is an Element

Next,in his brief on appeal, Carter contends that the témowingly’
should have been included in the elements under Counts One through Five
“because 8423(b) is a specific intent crime and[/]or is a crime reqginment
that requires travel[ing] with a purpose.

As an initial matter, where a defendant agrees t6dberts proposed
instructionsthe doctrine of invited error applies, meaning that review is waived

even if plain error would result.United States v. Frank, 599 F.3@21, 1240

(11th Cir. 2010).Because Cartesdefense counsaett trialagreed to the jury
instructions as to Counts Two through Fafeer the district court sustained his

only objection to those instructionSarter has waiveddiright to appeahejury

Anhile Carter does not raise this issue as to Counts Two through Five, we note those
counts also do not require the government to prove that the defendant enghigédexual
conductin a particular location.
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instructionsas to Counts Two through Five, even if the instructions constituted
plain error.

In any event, neither version o2823(b) has éknowing” requirementn
the statute In reaching this conclusion andaonstruirg this criminal statute;we
beginwith the plain language; whetlee language Congress chose to express its
intent is clear and unambiguous, that is as far as we go to ascertain its intent
because we must presume that Congress said what it meant anaviveant

said” United States v. Brown®05 F.3d 1229, 1250 (11th Cir. 20G@yuotation

marks omitted).

Notably, the language of the § 2423¢batute quoted abovelid not include
any reference toknowind ] travel ] in foreign commerceor any otheuse of the
word “knowing’ or “knowingly.” Similarly, the current version ofZ23(b) does
not include any use of the word “knowingr “knowingly.” Seel8 U.S.C.
§2423(b) (2012)“A . . .United States citizen. .who travels in foreign
commercefor the purpose of engaging in any illicit sexual conduct with another
person shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or

both?).

3By contrast, an adjacent subsection of § 2423 tmhisde a‘knowing” requirement.
Seel8 U.S.C. § 2423(a) (“A person who knowingly transports an individual who has not
attained the age of 18 years in interstate or foreign commerce . . . shaéderider this title
and imprisoned not less than 10 years or for life.” (emphasis added)).
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We are mindful that the district court included the phf&sewing| | travel
in foreign conmerce in the introductory paragragif the jury instruction¥ and
that the phrase likewise appears in the introductory paragrdph ofirrent pattern
charge for a violation of 8423(b). SeeEleventh Circuit Pattern Jury Instructions
(Criminal Cases)téb34-35. However, this Circui pattern instructions, while a

valuable resource, are not binding la8eeUnited States v. Dohab08 F.3d 989,

994 (11th Cir. 2007)

And Congress has chosen not to includen®wing” requirement in
8§ 2423(b). Neither the version of 8423(b) in effect at the time of the charged
conduct, nor any later version, includes the t&knowing’ or “knowingly.” See
18 U.S.C § 2423(b) (2000. § 2423(b) (2010). Rather, tmeens reaequired by

the§ 2423(b)statute is that the individual travel for the purposearhmitting

certain acts.SeeUnited States v. Tykarsky, 446 F.3d 458, 471 (3d Cir. 20B6}
simply, “knowingtravel in foreign commerce” is not now, and was not before, an
element of a 8423(b)offense.

Carter has offered no reason why we should deviate from thelgmgunage
of 8§ 2423(b) and insert an element that Congress did not include when difadting

statute. Rather, Carter merely lists whexisionswhich heclaims“reference

“Although the district court likewise included that phrase in its introductory rzafago
the jury instructions for Counts One through Five, it did not include it wpenifyingthe
elementof a §2423(b) offense
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§ 2423Db) as'knowingly [sic].” The first, United States v. Vanaoesnot, in

fact, refer to the completed offense as includikg@vledgerequirement.See

494 F.3d 985 (11th Cir. 2007), superseded by statute ongstherdsas

recognized irUnited States. Jerchower631 F.3d 1181, 1186 (11th Cir. 2011)

In Vance this Court quoted a federal grand jury indictntbat charged the

defendant with thexchoate crimeof “knowingly attemptingo travel in foreign

commercég' in violation of 82423(b)and(e). Vance 494 F.3cat 990 (emphasis
added and brackets omitted). The wttdowingly’ in the indictment thus
modifies“attempting;, not“travel” At no point did this Courihdicate thathe

statuterequiredknowingtravel. See generalld.

The seond decisiorCarter identifiesUnited States v. Robertsomcludes

only two passing references to the defendant pleading guiligntmwingly

traveling in interstate commerce for the purpose of engaging in a sexual dc with
minor. 350 F.3d 11091111, 1114 (10th Cir. 2003). In that case, the defendant did
not challenge his conviction, the sufficiency of the evidence, the elements of the

crime, or anything else that would have required the court to consider whether

“knowind ] trave[ ]” was an elemdrof the offense. See generally Rather, the

only issue on appeal was the application sérstencingguidelines enhancement.

Seeid. at 1112. These two passing references do not persuade us that we should
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ignore the plain meaning of tlg2423(b)statute and add an element to the offense
created by Congress.

Accordingly, the district cours jury instructions were legally correct, and
its phrasing did not constitute an abuse of discretion, much less reversihfe error
C. Denial of Carter’s Motions for Foreign Witness Depositions

Next, Carter argues that the district court erred in denying his motions to
take five foreign witness depositiodaring the trial. Carter contends th#te five
witnesses[sic] were going to testify to a material fact that was allegedly in dispute
within Counts 16,” and“would have supported and[/]or corroborated Caster
testimony and the theory of the defense that he did not travel to Haiti to engage in
sexual acts with persons under the age of eighteen, but instead to engage in acts of
good will for the Haitian community. Carter also argues thieghe proferred
witnessestestimony would have shown that there were no signs of sexual’abuse
at the Center. Finally, Carter contends that the erropemasereversiblebecause

it amounted to &deprivation of Cartés fundamental right to a fair triat®

>Even if we were persuaded that §18423(b)statute requiresknowingtravel in
foreign commerce,” we nonetheless conclude that any error was harmless. i@eseér h
testified that he traveled from the United States to Haiti on October 2, 20@it éllegedly only
to bring funds he raised from thinited States to the CenterTherefore, even if the government
bears the burden under § 2423(b) to prove that Cateeiseasravelto Haitiwas done
knowingly, Carters own testimony proves that it was.

And abundant evidence of Carter’s sexual cahedth minors in Haiti was more than
sufficient to support the jurg’verdict thaCartefs travelto Haiti was in foreign commerce for
the purpose of committing sexual acts with minors.
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District courts may grant a parsyrequest to depose a prospective witness
“because of exceptional circumstances and in the interest of judtied. R.
Crim. P.15(a)(1). he moving party bears the burden of showing that exceptional
circumstances exist to warrant the depositibnogoul 1 F.3d at 1552 7[T] hree
factors guide the exceptional circumstances analysis: whether (1) the witness is
unavailableo testify at trial; (2) injustice will result because testimamterialto

the movarits case will be absent; and juntervailing factorsender taking the

deposition unjust to the nonmoving partyJnited States v. Ramos, 45 F.3d 1519,

152223 (11thCir. 1995) “The principal consideration guiding whether the
absence of a particular witnéssgestimony would produce injustice is the
materialityof that testimony to the caseDrogoul 1 F.3d at 1552. This Court has
reversed a district coustdenal of a motion for foreign witness depositions where
the expected testimony wasighly material to the casegoing to“the very heart
of the governmens allegations,and the countervailing concerns were premature
and speculativeld. at 155356.

Althoughofferedseparately, Carter proffers of the witnességestimony

demonstrate that all five withesses woli/eofferedtestimony relating tonly

%We review for abuse of discretion a district c@udecision taefuse to allow a party to
take a deposition in a criminal caddnited States v. Thomas, 62 F.3d 1332, 1340 (11th Cir.
1995). Depositions are generally disfavored in criminal cases, and foreign idegosit
particular, are considered “suspect” anel ‘aot favored.” _United States v. Drogoul, 1 F.3d
1546, 1551 (11th Cir. 1993).
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two points:(1) thatthe withessesbserved Carter performing good works in the
community, and (2) that the withessasv“no signs of sexual abuse of children.
Carter contends th#tis testimony would have helped him establish that he

traveled in foreign commerce for the purpose of helping the community, not for the
purpose of engaging in sexual acts with minors.

First, to the extent that Carter sought to introduce testimony that he
performed good deeds in the community, such testimony would have been
cumulative. Here, other witnesses, including some of the victims, testified that
Carter operated the clinic for the community; that the clinic provided free services;
and that children whose families could not afford to support them received
clothing, food, and education at the CerifeAccordingly, the district court did

not abuse its discretion by excluding this deposition testim&egUnited States

v. Blackman, 66 F.3d 1572, 1578 (11th Cir. 19@Blirming denial of motion to
depose witnesses where other witneSgesified about the everitand“the
defendantsclaims. . .were fully develop€d.

Second,d the &tent that Carter sought to introduce testimony from
witnesses that they saw no signs of abuse at the CEat#¢ey has shown no error

in this regard either. Carter did not proffer that any of these witnesses would be

Carter also indicates that he sought to introduce evidence from the foreigrsestnes
that the children at the Center were “well treated.” However, such evidence wobbkl n
material to the central issue in this case, which is whether he traveled iratetesshmerce for
the purpose of engaging in sexual acts with child@eeRamos 45 F.3d at 1523.
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expert witnesse¥. Without Carter proffering any expertise by the witnesses in the
identification of hidden sexual abuse, the district court could not have admitted
their testimony that they saw “no signs” of abuse for the purpose of establishing

that the abuse did notawr. SeeUnited States v. Frazie887 F.3d 1244, 1260

(11th Cir. 2004)observing that only expert withnesses may give their opinion about
matters on which they do not have finstnd knowledge).

Accordingly, the district court besicould have admigd only testimony
that the witnesses did not directly observe abuse during their limited interactions
with Carter. But the fact that certain witnesses did not see children being abused
during particular times when they interacted with Carter does nathcantradict
the testimony of the victims who claimed Carter forced them, as children, to
engage in sexual acts with him inside the Centeen away from other adults
Thus the district court did not abuse its discretion by excluding this deposition
testimony. Cf. Ramos 45 F.3dat 13223 (stating that the absence“déstimony
materialto the movaris caseis a factor in the exceptioralrcumstance analysis
under Rule 15)

Because the foreign witnessgsoffered testimony consisted only of

cumulative, immaterial, or inadmissible evidence, Carter failed to establish the

8Even though Jensen had been a police investigator, Carter did not proffer evidence that
she was an expert at identifying sexual abuse, and defense counsel spesifitadl that she “is
not an expert but is a fact witness.”
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second factor in the exceptior@icumstances test under Rule 15, thajustice
will result becausesstimonymaterialto the movaris case will e absent See
Ramos 45 F.3dat 1223,
D.  Admission of Exhibit 105

On appeal, Carter also argues that the district court erred in admitting
Exhibit 105, a partialyredacted State Department Cable reportingeCa 1990
arrest in CairpEgypt for alleged child molestation. Cartssntendghat“the
court erred in admitting Exhibit 105 with the fact that Carter had been arrested for
child molestation in Egypt in 1990 as the government informed the Couitt that
probably came from the arresting authoriaesl the Court acknowledged that is a
violation of the right to confrontatioh.Carterargues thathe admission dExhibit
105 constituted “per seeversible errot
We conclude that Carter has abandoaggiments necessary for him to

establish that the district court erred in its hearsay ruling or in its Confrontation

Clause ruling, and his claims as to each therefore fail.

19A review of the record rewads that Cartés claim that “the government informed the
Court that [the information regarding the arrest charge] probably cametliie arresting
authorities” lacks merit. The government admitted that the second sectionpicntai
comments, might havecluded information that came from the arresting authoritied.that
section was not admitted as evidence and cannot form the basis of Cartershargume

Rather, the only section admitted into evidence was the first section, which indleded t
allegaion that Carter was arrested on child molestation charges. The districtdszhthat the
information included in the first section “is the information made in the normal couastainé
to be collected by both the US Embassy, in this instance in Egypt, and to be trahnisacki¢o
the Department of State in Washington, DC, for the purpose of protecting thetgtdréhe US
citizen abroad.”Regardless, for the reasons discugséd, we reject Cartés arguments.
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With regard to hearsay, the primary ground upon which the district court
admittedthe cable was that the cable constitutecamissible businesscord,
pursuant tdRule803(6). But on appeal, Carteibrief has failed to makany
argument regarding-or evenanyreference te-the district cours Rule 803(6)
determinatiorf° Accordingly, we conclude that he has abandoned any argument
thatthe district court erred by admitting the cable pursuaRiuie 803(6).See

Davis v. CocaCola Bottling Co. Consql516 F.3d 955, 972 (11th Cir. 2008k

Is well settled in this circuit that an argument not included in the appsllant
opening brief is deemed abandori¢dBecause he hdabandoned an issue on
which he had to prevail in order to obtain revérsal hearsay grounds, his hearsay

argument fails.SeeUnited States v. King, 751 F.3d 1268, 1277 (11th Gieit.

denied 135 S. Ct. 389 (2014)

Turning to Cartés Confrontation Clause argument, fist note the
Confrontation Clause prohibits the admissidra declarans outof-court
testimonialstatements unless the declarant wavaihgble and the defendant had

a previous opportunity to croexamine the declarant. Crawford v. Washington

541 U.S. 365354, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 13§3004) However, the Confrontation
Clause does not prohibit the admission of-testimonial statemesit See

Crawford 541 U.Sat68, 124 S. Ctat 1374 (“Where nontestimonial hearsay is at

2°0On appeal, Carter filed an opening brief but chose not to file a reply brief.
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Issue, it is wholly consistent with the Frametssign to afford the States

flexibility in their development of hearsay ld\ In his brief, Carter does not
arguethat the cable or the record of his arrest in Egypt were testimonial.
Accordingly, he has again abandoned a necessary issue in his larger Confrontation

Clause argument, which therefore fageUnited States v. Mathis, 767 F.3d

1264, 1278 (11th Cir. 2@ (“[The defendantfloes not argue on appeal tftae
out-of-court statementsjere testimonial and he haberefore abandoned an issue
on which he had to prevail in order to obtain reveitséduotingKing, 751 F.3dat
1277).

Even if Carter hagireserved the issgehis hearsay and Confrontation

Clause arguments would be subject to harmless error re@ealnited States v.

Magluta 418 F.3d 1166, 11780 (11th Cir. 2005) (hearsaynited States v.

Jones601 F.3d 1247, 1264 (11th Cir. 2010) (Confrontation Clause) (quoting

Delaware v. Van Arsdgld75 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 1438 (1986)).

Hearsay errors are harmless “if, viewing the proceedings in their entirety, a
court determines that the error did not affect the verdict, or hacebushght
effect.” Magluta 418 F.3d at 1180 (quotation marks omitted). “For violations of
the Confrontation Clause, harmless error occurs where it is clear beyond a

reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict
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obtainal.” United States v. Caraballo, 595 F.3d 1214, 1229 (11th Cir. 2010)

(quotation marks omitted).

In this case, even if the admission of the cable was error, it was harmless
under both standards. The evidence that Carter challenges was merely ctdlateral
the offensewith which Carter was charged. Indeed, the government introduced
the evidence for the purpose of impeaching Cartesstimony, not for the purpose
of establishing that he engaged in the conduct referenced on the State Department
cable. Erthermore, the evidence of Cargeguilt on all six counts was
overwhelming. Accordingly, we readily conclude that any error regarding the
admission of the State Department cable was harmless and is not grounds for
reversal.

E. Limitation on the Cross-Examination of Witness G.S.

Cartercontends that the district court erred in prohibiting defense counsel
from questioning a governmestwitness, G.S., about prior statements that were
allegedly inconsistent with his trial testimony. Carter argues that the district court
erred by prohibiting Cartéifrom exploring the essence of the case and the
witness credibility regarding that [sic] Carter had not engaged in sexual

misconduct.?*

“We review a district coug decision to limit the scope of crosgamination for “clear
abuse of discretion.United States v. Pacchipli18 F.3d 1294, 1303 (11th Circgrt. denied
134 S. Ct. 804 (2013).
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A district court has wide latitude to control the cregamination of

witnesses, subject to the guarantee of the Confrontation Clause. United States v.

Maxwell, 579 F.3d 1282, 1295 (11th Cir. 2009he Confrontation Clause
guarantees a criminal defendant the right to impeach adverse witnesses through

crossexamination.United States v. Barringto®48 F.3d 1178, 11838 (11th Cir.

2011) “A defendant confrontation rights are satisfied when the cross
examination permitted exposes the jury to facts sufficient to evaluate the credibility
of the witness and enables defense counsel to establish a record from which he

properly can argue why ¢hwitness is less than relialileUnited States v.

BaptistaRodriguez 17 F.3d 1354, 1371 (11th Cir. 1994)jowever,'a witness

may not be impeached with a third pastgharacterization or interpretation of a

prior oral statement unless the witness has subscrilmdtberwise adopted the

statement as his ownUnited States v. Saget, 991 F.2d 702, 710 (11th Cir. 1993)
In this caseCartets defense counsel sought to cresamine witness G.S.

regarding statements he allegedly made to law enforcement offidesdinst

meeting with them. Specifically, defense counsel referred to the notes from a May

22, 2011law-enforcemeninterview with G.S., and proffered that he sought to

impeach G.S. based @ S!s allegedstatement in that interview that Carteever

did anything to me because he never did anything td mie district court

sustained the governmésibbjections to defense courisejuestions on the
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ground that counsel was attempting to impeach the witness with notes from a law
enforcement officer thatid not constitute a statement of the witness.

Even if thewitnesss alleged prior statement to officers constituted a proper
basis for impeachment, Carteargument would nonetheless fail. Assuming that
the district court limited the crosxaminationn error, it did not infringe Cartés
Sixth Amendment right to cross<amination because defense counsel nonetheless
elicited ample evidence to enable the jury to assesss@rgdibility. After
abandoning the line of questioning regarding the May 22, 2011 intervieviamith
enforcement, defense counsel moved on to other prior statements that were
allegedly inconsistentDuring this line of questioninglefense counsel continued
asking G.S. about his statements to law enforcement, and the distnitt
overruled multiple government objections, on hearsay grounds, to’'Garter
attempts to impeach G.S. Importantly, tGoS. admitted that, during a November
30, 2011 interview, he denied participating in sexual activity with Carter, even
though he tesfied at trial that he had been forced to masturbate Carter.

Ultimately then, through crossxamination, the defendant was able to make
clear to the jury that when questioned previously on this subject matter, witness
G.S had never indicated sexual molestation until two days before the trial. So,
even if some of the district coistrulingssustaininggovernmental objections may

have been erroneous, any errors were mitigayddter crossexamination that
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elicited this information before the junAccordingly, Carteis Confrontation
Clauserights werenot infringedbecause the district court permitted impeachment
of G.S. that waSsufficient to evaluate the credliby of the withess and enable[d]
defense counsel to establish a record from which he properly can argu&wghy

was"“less than reliableé. SeeBaptistaRodriquez 17 F.3dat 1371

F.  Carter’s Motion for Mistrial
Carteralsocontends that the district coldrred in denying Cartes motion
for mistrial’ when a witnesstestified that Carter committed sexual abuse in
Jamaicd. Carters argument on this point is only two sentences long:
Carter moved for mistrial when [witness J.D.J.] stated
Carter committed sexual abuse in Jamaica when such
notice was not provided to the defense dudmsgovery
and which motion was denied by the District Court. As
stated above, this matter concerns credibility findings
between the governmestwitnesses who alleged sexual
abuse and Carter who denied the allegations and
therefore this error is not harmless.
(Citation omitted).
Carter cites no case law and makes no argument explaining why the district

courts denial of his motion for a mistrial was in error. Accordingly, he has

abandoned this issu&eeDenney v. City of Albany, 247 F.3d 1172, 11@2th

Cir. 2001)(deeming an issue abandoned where the plaintiffs freadmgle

reference’in their brief to the issuéd[id] not discuss the district coUstanalysis
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on that issué,and“d[id] not make any legal or factual argunieas to why the
distnict courts decision was in error).
G. The Testimony of Witnesd.M.

On appealCarteralsoargueghat the district court erred in admitting a
witnesss testimonyover Carte'rs objection on hearsay grounds. The witness,
[.M., testified that Carter sexually touched and abused him in the 1970s when .M.
was 12 years oldyut thathe first reported the abuse to police in 2011 after his
brother contacted him.

Once again, Cartes argument consists of only two sentences:

The District Court overruled &ters hearsay
objection wherl.M.] testified his brother contacted him
first about Cartés alleged sexual abuse. As stated
above, this matter concerns credibility findings between
the governmens withesses who alleged sexual abuse
and Carter who deed the allegations and therefore this
error is not harmless.

(Citation omitted).

And, once againye conclude thaCarter has abandoned the issue by failing

to present any factual or legal argument challenging the district sourt

determination.SeeDenney 247 F.3cat 1182

H. Alleged Cumulative Error
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Carters final argument on appeal is that tllemulative error doctrine
requires reversal of Cartserconvictions even if this court finds that each
individual error is insufficient for reversal.

We disagree.

Carter has not established a single error, let alone the aggregdtoarof
errors”that may require for a reversal where the individual errors doSes.

United States v. Baker, 432 F.3d 1189, 1223 (11th Cir. 2005). Accordingly, his

argument under the cumulative error doctrine fails.
[l . CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, we affirm Cadezonvictiors for five counts of
traveing in foreign commerce for the purpose of engaging in illicit sexual conduct
with a minor, in violatiorof 18 U.S.C. 423(b), and one count of attempting to
travel in foreign commerce for the purpose of engaging in illicit sexual conduct
with aminor, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8423(e).

AFFIRMED .
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